THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Supreme Court

APPEAL FROM SPARTANBURG COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

Honorable J. Mark Hayes, II, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2016-001430  
Appellate Case No. 2012-209540

Op. No. 2016-UP-174 (S.C. Ct. App. filed April. 13, 2016)

Jerome Curtis Buckson,

Petitioner,

v.

State of South Carolina,

Respondent.

AMENDED  
PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

Tricia A. Blanchette  
Post Office Box 12725  
Columbia, South Carolina 29211  
(803) 988-0008  
Attorney for Petitioner

RECEIVED

AUG 01 2016

SC SUPREME COURT

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE

- I. Whether the South Carolina Court of Appeals failed to properly uphold the relief granted by the lower court and find that trial counsel rendered ineffective assistance of counsel when he primarily focused on the murder charge in his preparation and presentation of Petitioner's defense when Petitioner was also facing an equally serious burglary charge, and that such ineffective assistance and the resulting prejudice were demonstrated through counsel's failure to investigate and call witnesses and his failure to speak to and properly utilize witnesses called at trial.

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Petitioner was confined in the South Department of Corrections pursuant to orders of commitment from the Spartanburg County Clerk of Court.<sup>1</sup> During the February 2006 term of the Spartanburg County Grand Jury, Petitioner was indicted for Burglary, First Degree (Indictment No.: 2006-GS-30-0845) and Murder (Indictment No.: 2006-GS-30-0846). On January 30, 2007, a jury trial was conducted in Spartanburg County in front of the Honorable J. Derham Cole. Petitioner was represented by Richard H. Warder, Esquire. The jury returned a verdict of not guilty on the Murder charge and guilty on the Burglary, First Degree, charge. On February 2, 2007, the Honorable J. Derham Cole sentenced Petitioner to confinement for a term of twenty (20) years.

A timely Notice of Appeal was filed on Petitioner's behalf and an appeal was perfected by M. Celia Robinson, South Carolina Office of Appellate Defense. Following the submission of the Brief of Appellant, the South Carolina Court of Appeals affirmed Petitioner's conviction and sentence. State v. Buckson, Op. No. 2010-UP-282 (S.C. Ct. App. filed May 20, 2010). A Petition for Rehearing was filed and denied on June 17, 2010. Petitioner filed a Petition for Writ of Certiorari to the South Carolina Supreme Court, which was voluntarily withdrawn. The South Carolina Supreme Court issued the Remittitur on October 6, 2010.

On October, 22, 2010, Petitioner filed an Application for Post Conviction Relief (PCR) in Spartanburg County. On or about May 3, 2011, the State submitted a Return. On September 8, 2011, Petitioner, through counsel, submitted an Amendment to Application for Post Conviction Relief. An evidentiary hearing into the matter was held on September 23, 2011 at the Spartanburg County Courthouse in front of the Honorable J. Mark Hayes, II. Petitioner was present at the hearing and was represented by Tricia A. Blanchette, Esquire. The State was represented by

---

<sup>1</sup> Pursuant to the Order issued by the South Carolina Supreme Court on October 3, 2012, Petitioner is currently released subject to an appellate bond.

Suzanne H. White, Assistant Attorney General.

During the hearing, Petitioner testified on his own behalf. Petitioner also called Shirley Hall, Barry Adair, Elliott Canada, Antwan Martin, Chad Tate and Lloyd Williams to the stand. PCR counsel introduced eight exhibits. The State called Richard H. Warder, Esquire, to the stand. The lower court also had before it a copy of the Application, the Return, the Amendment, the records of the Spartanburg County Clerk of Court concerning the subject conviction, the trial transcript, and Petitioner's records from the South Carolina Department of Corrections.

At the close of the hearing, the Honorable J. Mark Hayes, II, took the matter under advisement. On October 21, 2011, the Honorable J. Mark Hayes, II, issued an Order Granting Application for Post Conviction Relief. The State filed a Motion to Alter or Amend the Order Granting Relief Pursuant to Rule 59(e) on November 8, 2011. Petitioner submitted a Return on November 15, 2011. On March 9, 2012, the Honorable J. Mark Hayes, II, issued a written Order denying the State's Motion and clarifying the Order Granting Application for Post Conviction Relief.

On September 17, 2012, the State filed a Petition for Writ of Certiorari and Appendix. On October 3, 2012, this Court issued an Order granting Petition for Appeal Bond, and Petitioner was released following a hearing and posting of bond in Spartanburg County on November 8, 2012. On December 14, 2012, Petitioner filed a Return to Petition for Writ of Certiorari. Thereafter, the appeal was transferred to the South Carolina Court of Appeals.

On April 10, 2014 an Order granting Certiorari was issued by the Court of Appeals. On August 11, 2014, the State submitted the Brief of Petitioner and additional Appendices. On October 8, 2014, the Brief of Respondent was filed. An oral argument was scheduled and cancelled in October 2015. On April 13, 2016, an Opinion was issued by the Court of Appeals reversing the

decision of the lower court. Buckson v. State, Unpub. Op. No. 2016-UP-174 (S.C. Ct. App. filed April 13, 2016). Sup. App. p. 1. On or about April 13, 2016, the State filed a Motion to Revoke Appeal Bond. Sup. App. p. 21.

On April 26, 2016, a Petition for Rehearing and Petition for Rehearing *En Banc* was timely filed, along with a Response to Motion to Revoke Appeal Bond. Sup. App. p. 6, 26. The State submitted a Reply to Response to Motion to Revoke Appeal Bond on or about May 3, 2016. Sup. App. p. 28. By letter and Order dated June 10, 2016, the South Carolina Court of Appeals denied the Petition for Rehearing and Petition for Rehearing *En Banc*. Sup. App. p. 33. Pursuant to Rule 242, South Carolina Appellate Court Rules, this Petition follows.

## ARGUMENT

In a Post Conviction Relief Appeal, great deference is given to the lower court's findings of fact and conclusions of law. McCray v. State, 317 S.C. 557, 455 S.E.2d 686 (1995) (emphasis added). The existence of "any evidence" of probative value is sufficient to uphold the lower court's ruling. Webb v. State, 281 S.C. 237, 314 S.E.2d 839 (1984). Pursuant to Rule 242, South Carolina Appellate Court Rules, Petitioner would respectfully request that this Court consider the arguments herein, along with the prior filings and record, and find that the standing Opinion of the South Carolina Appeals must be reversed since it errantly interprets the lower court's ruling and exceeds the standard of review. Petitioner submits that it is necessary that this Court review and reverse the standing Opinion because failure to reverse will set a dangerous precedent in the appellate court's authority to stand in the place of the circuit court. Here, under the any evidence standard of review, the lower court's granting of relief must be upheld.

Furthermore, the standing Opinion of the Court of Appeals fails to address the lower court's analysis and reliance upon State v. Singley, 392 S.C. 270, 271-72, 709 S.E.2d 603, 604 (2011) as argued herein. Petitioner submits that the lower court correctly relied upon and interpreted Singley and the Court of Appeals failed to address the lower court's reasoning that was clearly derived from reliance upon Singley.

Finally, Petitioner submits that the standing Opinion of the South Carolina Court of Appeals cannot be reconciled to this Court's ruling in Lounds v. State, 380 S.C. 454, 670 S.E.2d 646 (2008) as relied upon by the lower court and argued herein. Therefore, it is imperative that this Court consider the below argument and reverse the Court of Appeals.

- I. Defense of the Burglary Charge: The South Carolina Court of Appeals failed to properly uphold the relief granted by the lower court and find that trial counsel rendered ineffective assistance of counsel when he primarily focused on the murder charge in his preparation and presentation of Petitioner's defense when Petitioner was also facing an equally serious burglary charge, and that such ineffective assistance and the resulting prejudice were demonstrated through counsel's failure to investigate and call witnesses and his failure to speak to and properly utilize witnesses called at trial.

In reaching the Opinion reversing the relief granted by the lower court, it appears the South Carolina Court of Appeals has chosen to accept the State's invitation to improperly dissect the decision of the lower court into four findings when it is clear that the Court made two well-reasoned findings as addressed in the Brief of Respondent and herein.<sup>2</sup> As stated, great deference is to be given to the lower court's findings of fact and conclusions of law. McCray v. State, 317 S.C. 557, 455 S.E.2d 686 (1995). The existence of "any evidence" of probative value is sufficient to uphold the lower court's ruling. Webb v. State, 281 S.C. 237, 314 S.E.2d 839 (1984). As a result, Petitioner would ask this Court to properly consider the lower court's rulings, reverse the Court of Appeals and find as follows:

Trial counsel rendered ineffective assistance of counsel when he primarily focused on the murder charge in his preparation and presentation of Respondent's defense when Respondent was also facing an equally serious burglary charge, and that such ineffective assistance and the resulting prejudice were demonstrated through counsel's failure to investigate and call witnesses and his failure to speak to and properly utilize witnesses called at trial.

Brief of Respondent p. 6.

Here, the lower court correctly held that trial counsel rendered ineffective assistance of counsel when he primarily focused on the murder charge in his preparation and presentation of

---

<sup>2</sup> Prior to the filing of this Petition for Writ of Certiorari, Petitioner was the "Respondent;" therefore, all references to Brief of Respondent, refer to the Petitioner's Brief filed in the South Carolina Court of Appeals entitled Brief of Respondent.

Petitioner's defense when Petitioner was facing an equally serious burglary charge. Specifically, the lower court reasoned:

At the PCR hearing, Applicant alleged that trial counsel failed to focus on the burglary charge during the preparation and investigation phase of his representation. Even though the Applicant was going to trial on murder and burglary, Applicant explained that counsel focused on the murder charge and trial counsel did not refute this assertion. Trial counsel explained that the murder charge was more complicated and was his primary focus. Interestingly, both charges carry a life sentence, yet counsel determined that he would regrettably put his entire focus on the preparation and presentation of Applicant's murder defense. This Court finds this decision to focus on the murder charge to be unreasonable and ineffective, which resulted in prejudice to the Applicant. The State has argued that the not guilty verdict on the murder is indicative of counsel's effective investigation and preparation, but this Court is not convinced of this argument. When counsel choose to focus his investigation and preparation on the murder charge, he could not anticipate a not guilty verdict nor does his preparation on one charge excuse the unreasonableness of his preparation and investigation on the other charge.

App. p. 745.

At the evidentiary hearing, trial counsel explained that he focused his preparation and time with Petitioner prior to trial on the murder charge since it was more problematic and had more defenses. App. p. 694. On cross-examination, when asked if both charges, murder and burglary in the first degree, were equally important, counsel errantly explained that the risk was more on the murder, so it took up most of the focus. App. pp. 714-5. He also explained that he did not contemplate that the jury would split as he assumed a not guilty on the murder would result in a not guilty on the burglary charge. App. p. 715. It appears that this portion of the record has been ignored by the Court of Appeals.

The lower court's findings regarding counsel's ineffectiveness in the defense of the burglary charge tracks very closely to the opinion set forth by this Court in Lounds v. State, 380 S.C. 454, 670 S.E.2d 646 (2008). Lounds argued that counsel failed to adequately prepare for and defend him at trial. This Court agreed based upon counsel's failure to conduct an

independent investigation, which at a minimum should have included speaking to potential witnesses. Lounds, 380 S.C. at 460, 670 S.E.2d at 649, Ard v. Catoe, 373 S.C. 318, 642 S.E.2d 590 (2007). In granting relief, this Court relied upon the testimony of two witnesses that were called at the evidentiary hearing in reasoning that counsel was ineffective; whereas, here, the lower court relied upon the testimony of four witnesses called at the evidentiary hearing. Additionally, defense counsel's inability to remember and provide credible testimony in the instant case is analogous to this Court's reversal of the finding of reasonable strategy when counsel failed to testify at the evidentiary hearing in Lounds. Simply put, counsel's testimony at the evidentiary hearing does not support the findings of the Court of Appeals.

Here, the lower court found it was a matter of unreasonableness to not utilize the witnesses in the capacity they were utilized at the evidentiary hearing. The court also refused to accept the State's theory that the not guilty verdict on the murder amounted to a showing of effective representation on the burglary. The lower court responded to this theory in the Order by noting counsel's testimony that he believed that the burglary would simply go away if he obtained a not guilty on the murder and his admission that his focus was on the murder because it was more serious as he errantly stated that it carried more time. App. p. 745, 750. By way of the Order, the lower court responded to the State's theory as follows:

The court has searched the transcript and has considered the testimony presented at the present hearing for reasonable justification for such an opinion and can find none... counsel's above detailed failures cannot be cured by a not guilty verdict on the murder charge when the jury found the Applicant guilty on the burglary charge.

App. p. 750.

It is well established that when matters of credibility are involved great deference is given to a post conviction relief court's findings. Smith v. State, 375 S.C. 507, 654 S.E.2d 523 (2007),

McCray, 317 S.C. 557, 455 S.E.2d 686, Solomon v. State, 313 S.C. 526, 529, 443 S.E.2d 540, 542 (1994) (Stating the court gives great deference to a PCR court's findings when matters of credibility are involved.). As to credibility findings, the lower court held: "This Court finds the testimony of Shirley Hall, Barry Adair, Elliott Canada, Antwan Martin, Chad Tate, Lloyd Williams and Jerome Buckson to be credible. This Court finds the testimony of Richard Warder to be credible on the matters that he specifically recalled, but this Court cannot make a finding of credibility on all the matters he could not recall." App. 743-4.

In reaching the standing decision, the Court of Appeals must have chosen to ignore the credible testimony of several witnesses that testified that Mr. Warder did not speak with them prior to trial or in the case of Chad Tate, spoke with him one time immediately before trial. The Court of Appeals has accepted the State's invitation to reverse the findings of Judge Hayes and rely on testimony of Mr. Warder, which was taken in firsthand by Judge Hayes and horribly limited by recall issues and emotional outbursts in courtroom. Additionally, the State has manipulated vague responses made by Mr. Warder to argue that he met with witnesses and chose not to use such witnesses as a result of a valid trial strategy. It is obvious that Mr. Warder's clear admission that the witnesses would have "been helpful" at trial has also been ignored. App. p. 710, ln. 21.

Nevertheless, the Court of Appeals has accepted the State's position that the that the testimony offered at the evidentiary hearing does not establish that Mr. Warder's failure to utilize the witnesses or more fully utilize the witnesses called affected the outcome of trial.<sup>3</sup> Petitioner

---

<sup>3</sup> As is detailed in the Brief of Respondent, Petitioner submits that each witness not called at trial provided testimony that was not merely cumulative to testimony or evidence offered at the trial and such a finding by the Court of Appeals must not stand. Brief of Respondent pp. 11-15. Briefly, the testimony of the witnesses provided the following outcome determinative information:

1) Shirley Hall provided testimony as a neighbor that was aware of Petitioner dwelling in the apartment and recalled providing such information to Mr. Warder.

urged the Court of Appeals and now this Court to review the lower court's finding and determine that there is ample evidence in the record to support his finding and to not conduct a *de novo* review since the State has not alleged an error of law. Based upon the evidentiary hearing transcript and the arguments set forth in the Brief and herein, Petitioner submits there is ample evidence to support the lower court's findings, which are similar to this Court's findings in Lounds v. State.

Unlike the standing Opinion, the lower court's findings specifically address the burglary statute and controlling case law. In pertinent part, S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-310(3)(a) (2003) provides: "A person is guilty of burglary in the first degree if the person enters a dwelling without consent and with intent to commit a crime in the dwelling, and . . . the entering or remaining occurs in the nighttime." The lower court found that being charged under this statute, presented two important issues for Petitioner: "First, the issue is to what degree did the Applicant have a right to claim possession to the victim's apartment; and the second issue is the implication of his lack of intent to commit a crime when he entered the victim's apartment." App. p. 744. Relying upon State v. Singley, 392 S.C. 270, 271-72, 709 S.E.2d 603, 604 (2011), the lower

---

2) Antwan Martin provided a first-hand account of the being with Petitioner on the day in question, his knowledge that Petitioner lived at the victim's apartment and knowledge that Petitioner was currently in a relationship with the victim, which the court found directly refuted the testimony of the State's witness – Taffie Williams.

3) Lloyd Williams provided testimony that also refuted the testimony of Taffie Williams, corroborated the testimony of Petitioner and provided a first-hand account of being at the apartment on the evening in question. The court found his testimony not merely cumulative and highly important since he was listed as a State's witness, the stepfather of the victim and the husband of Taffie Wililams.

4) Elliott Canada provided testimony about being in the apartment during the night in question and his interactions with the victim and Mr. Watson (the person present in the bedroom when the victim was shot). Mr. Canada testified about the victim and Mr. Watson being "jittery" about the victim's "friend" named "J" coming home, it being apparent a man lived in the apartment, Mr. Watson's intention to return to the apartment with a gun, and his willingness to speak with defense counsel prior to trial.

Brief of Respondent pp. 11-15.

court reasoned that the jury must determine whether Petitioner used the dwelling in such a manner that it could have been said to be his own home because one cannot commit the offense of burglary by breaking into his own home. Id. at 276, 709 S.E.2d at 606. The lower court further noted that this Court held that the proper test is whether, under the totality of the circumstances, a burglary defendant had custody and control of, and the right of expectation to be safe and secure in, the dwelling burglarized. Id. at 278, 709 S.E.2d at 607.

As was addressed by the lower court and unaddressed by the Court of Appeals, Singley requires a fact-intensive totality of the circumstances test. Here, Judge Hayes properly considered the entire record and the evidence presented at the evidentiary hearing and found trial counsel ineffective for his handling of the burglary charge, and based upon the any evidence standard of review, this Court should not allow this finding to be disturbed.

The State alleged the following at trial:

- 1) Petitioner's relationship with the victim was over, 2) Petitioner was not living at the apartment with the victim and was not welcome to enter it, 3) Petitioner was not paying bills at the apartment, and 4) Petitioner had not given his key to Taffie Williams.

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