STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Supreme Court

---

**RECEIVED**

SEP 09 2016

CERTIORARI TO THE COURT OF APPEALS  
Appeal from Spartanburg  
The Honorable J. Mark Hayes II, Post-Conviction Relief Judge **S.C. SUPREME COURT**

---

Opinion No. 2016-UP-174 (S.C. Ct. App. filed April 13, 2016)

---

Appellate Case No. 2016-001430

---

JERMONE BUCKSON,

PETITIONER,

v.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT.

---

**RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI**

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

ALICIA A. OLIVE  
Assistant Attorney General  
S.C. Bar # 102089

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, S.C. 29211  
(803) 734-3737

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

**

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

Williams testified that he visited the victim's apartment on the night of the shooting and the victim told him that she originally did not answer the door when he knocked because she thought it was "J," referring to Petitioner. (App. p. 612). Williams saw that the victim was playing cards with Charlene and two other guys. (App. p. 613). When he saw the victim and Charlene with the two guys, he did not know what to think in regards to whether the victim and Petitioner were still dating. (App. p. 619).

Although Williams' testimony tends to support that Petitioner, at some point, lived with the victim, he had no direct knowledge if they were dating at the time of the incident. He did not know if Petitioner had a key to the apartment at the time of the incident. His testimony corroborates Petitioner's testimony that the window was once used as a point of entry into the house, but this testimony at best reduces the suspicion surrounding Petitioner's method of entry. However, evidence relating to the use of the back window as a method of entry does not address whether Petitioner was still permitted to stay at the apartment at the time of the incident.

Additionally, it is equally likely that Williams' testimony would have been harmful to the defense because he testified that the victim did not want to open the door because she thought it was Respondent. That testimony suggests both that Petitioner was not welcome at the victim's apartment, and that he did not have a key. Therefore, Petitioner also failed to demonstrate he was prejudiced by Counsel's failure to call Williams as a witness.

Counsel testified that his strategy regarding calling witnesses is to make sure that it is a witness that he can get something out, but that the State will not have a stronger case once Counsel sits down. (App. p. 704). Counsel testified that even if a witness can bring something good, sometimes the cross-examination can be a disaster, leaving you with losing more ground than you gain. (App. p. 704). A criminal defense attorney has a duty to perform a reasonable investigation. “[W]hile the scope of a reasonable investigation depends upon a number of issues, at a minimum, counsel has the duty to interview potential witnesses and to make an independent investigation of the facts and circumstances of the case.” Lounds v. State, 380 S.C. 454, 460, 670 S.E.2d 646, 649 (2008) (citing Ard v. Catoe, 372 S.C. at 331-2, 642 S.E.2d at 597). An Applicant must produce the testimony of a favorable witness or otherwise offer the testimony in accordance with the rules of evidence at the PCR hearing in order to establish prejudice from the witness' failure to testify at trial. Bannister v. State, 333 S.C. 298, 509 S.E.2d 807 (1998). Although Petitioner offered these four witnesses to support his claim that Counsel was ineffective for failing to investigate and call more witnesses in his defense, there is no probative evidence contained in their testimony to support the PCR court's finding that Counsel was ineffective. None of the witnesses demonstrated any personal knowledge concerning whether the victim and Petitioner still lived together. The lack of any direct knowledge as to Petitioner's living situation on the day of the shooting would have done nothing more than provide ample

opportunity for the State to attack these witnesses on cross-examination. Therefore, Petitioner failed to prove with respect any of these witnesses, that but for Counsel's failure to present them, he would not have been convicted of first-degree burglary. Accordingly, the Court of Appeals did not err in reversing the PCR court's ruling that Counsel was ineffective for failing to investigate and call these witnesses.

**II. The Court of Appeals correctly found that there was no probative evidence to support the PCR court's finding that Counsel was ineffective for failing to utilize Tate more effectively at trial.**

The Court of Appeals correctly held that there was no evidence of probative value to support the PCR court's finding that Counsel's utilization of Tate as a witness was deficient. The PCR court found Counsel was ineffective for failing to prepare and utilize Chad Tate at trial. Chad Tate was the ex-boyfriend of the victim, and father to her two children. (App. p. 593). Tate testified at the trial on behalf of the defense. (App. p. 291-302). At the PCR hearing, Tate testified that prior to the trial he spoke with Counsel or the investigator, but he claimed that they did not meet with him to prepare him to testify at trial. (App. p. 594). Tate stated that he did meet with him in the conference room outside of the courtroom on the day of trial before he testified. (App. p. 603). However, Tate testified that it was his understanding that he was being called as a defense witness to testify that Petitioner lived with the victim. (App. p. 594). Tate testified that he had no firsthand knowledge as to whether or not Respondent had a key to the apartment. (App. p. 596-97). With respect to Tate's testimony that Counsel did not speak with him prior to trial, Counsel testified that, although he had no direct recollection of that, as a general recollection, he thought and felt it was not accurate. (App. p. 700).

Petitioner failed to demonstrate either deficiency or prejudice as to Counsel's preparation of or questioning of Tate. Though Tate testified that he thought he had more to offer as a defense

witness, (App. p. 604), Tate's trial testimony established that he believed Petitioner was living at the apartment with the victim, which is what he understood to be his purpose for testifying at trial. Petitioner failed to show how Counsel's preparation of Tate was lacking or what how more preparation would have changed his testimony at trial. See Jackson v. State, 329 S.C. 345, 353-54, 495 S.E.2d 768, 772 (1998) ("Respondent failed to present any evidence of what counsel could have discovered or what other defenses respondent would have requested counsel pursue had counsel more fully prepared for the trial."); see also Moorehead v. State 329 S.C. 329, , 496 S.E.2d 415 (1998) ("Failure to conduct an independent investigation does not constitute ineffective assistance of counsel when the allegation is supported only by mere speculation as to the result.").

Accordingly, there was no probative evidence to support the PCR court's finding that Counsel was ineffective for failing to properly prepare or utilize Tate at trial. Therefore, the Court of Appeals did not err in reversing the PCR court's decision.

**III. The Court of Appeals correctly held there was no evidence of probative value to support the PCR court's finding that counsel focused entirely on the murder charge rather than the burglary charge.**

The Court of Appeals correctly ruled that the record contains no evidence of probative value to support the PCR judge's finding that Counsel was ineffective for focusing more on the defense for the murder charge and for failing to prepare to defend Respondent on the charge of first-degree burglary.

The PCR court found that Counsel's testimony was credible as to the issues that he recalled. (App. p. 743). Counsel testified that the case was clearly two crimes, which were intertwined and occurred within a short period of time. (App. p. 694). Counsel testified that in his meetings with Petitioner, he focused on the ones that he saw were most problematic and they

probably discussed the murder more than the burglary, because it had more problems generally and they had to convince the jury that the perpetrator was Watson, not Petitioner. (App. p. 694-95). In fact, the only witness for the defense regarding the murder was Petitioner, and Counsel focused on the important job of cross-examination of Watson. (App. p. 696).

Counsel testified that he thought they presented a strong case as to the fact that Petitioner lived at the apartment through the introduction of pictures from inside the apartment and from the testimony of the defense witnesses. (App. p. 697). Counsel's opening statement at trial points out that Petitioner was the victim's live-in boyfriend and explains why he entered through the window. (App. p. 74-75). Petitioner acknowledged during his testimony that Counsel discussed at trial several pictures from the scene, which included a photo of what appeared to be men's clothing on the futon in the victim's bedroom, a photo of personal papers of Petitioner's and a photo of a toothbrush in the bathroom, (App. p. 683-84, p. 687). Counsel asked Petitioner about those items and pictures at trial. (App. p. 345-9). Counsel testified that he thought that Petitioner's mother was a very effective witness, but that all four defense witnesses provided good information about Petitioner's relationship with the victim and their living situation. (App. p. 701). Counsel testified that there might have been individual things or testimony that he elected to not put up at trial to support Petitioner living at the apartment, but he thought he tried a strong case to establish that Petitioner did live at the apartment. (App. p. 705-06).

To establish counsel was inadequately prepared, an applicant must present evidence of what counsel could have discovered or what other defenses could have been pursued had counsel been more fully prepared. Jackson v. State, 329 S.C. 345, 495 S.E.2d 768 (1998); Skeen v. State, 325 S.C. 210, 481 S.E.2d 129 (1997) (holding applicant not entitled to relief where no evidence presented at PCR hearing to show how additional preparation would have had any

possible effect on the result at trial). Other than the testimony of the four witnesses, none of whom had direct knowledge as to whether or not the victim had broken up with or evicted Petitioner from her home, Petitioner failed to produce any evidence or testimony of what Counsel would have discovered had he conducted any additional investigation into the burglary charge. Counsel provided testimony from those closest to Petitioner to support his testimony that he had not been evicted from the apartment, but in fact was still living there. Trial testimony from several witnesses, including Charlene and the victim's mother, indicated that Petitioner had come to the apartment earlier in the evening and was let in to go upstairs. (App. p. 109-110, 134).

Petitioner contends the Court of Appeals erred in not analyzing this case under the facts of State v. Singley, 392 S.C. 270, 278, 709 S.E.2d 603, 607 (2011) (holding "defendant's ownership interest in the dwelling will not preclude a conviction of burglary as a matter of law"). However, in Singley, the Court upheld the trial judge's denial of the defendant's motion for directed verdict. Therefore, while Singley is informative concerning the elements of burglary first degree, it is not controlling. See also State v. Coffin, 331 S.C. 129, 502 S.E.2d 98 (1998) (holding charge of burglary was properly submitted to the jury because evidence supported inference that appellant was a guest in victim's home where appellant did not have key and was not on lease and victim was entitled to terminate appellant's lawful possession by evicting him as she did before stabbings occurred). In both Coffin and Singley, a person with a clear possessory interest evicted the individual accused of burglary. In Coffin, the defendant had no possessory right, and "his rights were dependent solely on his girlfriend's good graces." 331 S.C. 129, 502 S.E.2d 98. When the defendant's girlfriend evicted him from her mobile home, he no longer had the right of expectation to be safe and secure in that home. Id. Further, a possessory interest is

not enough to entitle a defendant to a finding of custody and control of the dwelling. Singley, 392 S.C. at 277, 709 S.E.2d 603, at 606. Regardless, the additional witnesses presented at the PCR hearing would not have changed the outcome of the trial because, as argued above, none of the witnesses could testify as to whether the victim had evicted Petitioner as of the time of the shooting. Although the determination of habitation is a fact-intensive one for the jury, if the undisputed owner of the house indicates that the defendant is no longer welcome in the home, the defendant will not succeed in claiming he entered his own dwelling, even where the defendant owns a possessory interest in that home.

The Court of Appeals correctly held there is no evidence of probative value in the record indicating that Counsel failed to present an adequate defense to the burglary charge or that he focused more on the murder charge rather than the burglary charge. Counsel credibly testified that he prepared and planned on presenting a defense to both charges at trial. Counsel testified, and the record demonstrates, that he brought credible and effective witnesses forward during the trial to support the defense that Petitioner still lived in the victim's apartment. Counsel presented three witnesses in addition to Petitioner at trial, and only Petitioner's testimony was offered in relation to the murder charges. Counsel's testimony and the record demonstrate that Counsel reviewed all discovery and conducted an independent investigation by interviewing and calling multiple witnesses. Furthermore, Counsel demonstrated that he understood what evidence needed to be presented at trial to acquit Petitioner of the burglary charge and he presented that evidence. Therefore, there was no evidence of probative value to support the PCR court's finding that Counsel was deficient for focusing more on the murder charge than the burglary charge, or that Petitioner was prejudiced as a result.

**IV. The Court of Appeals correctly held the PCR court erred in finding Counsel was ineffective for failing to object to the item stricken on the jury verdict form.**

Although Respondent was acquitted of the murder charge, he was found guilty of burglary first degree and received a sentence of twenty years. (App. p. 477). At the end of the trial, the jury returned the verdict forms to the trial court and an issue was brought up by the judge regarding a few letters that appeared to have been written in and then struck out and initialed by the jury foreman. (App. p. 479). The judge addressed that issue with the jury foreman and the jury foreman stated that there had been a mistake as to where things were written. (App. p. 479). The jury was also polled following the issuance of the verdicts to confirm that the verdicts were correct. (App. p. 477-8).

The PCR court originally found that Counsel was ineffective for failing to address the matter before the trial court based upon Counsel's testimony that he thought the jury "compromised" on the verdict. (App. p. 751-52). However, in the Order denying Respondent's 59(e) Motion, the court acknowledges that the action of the jury or the failure of Counsel to address the matter with the trial court, "standing alone," would not lead to a conclusion of ineffective assistance of counsel. (App. p. 769). The PCR court also agreed that it would be speculation to determine that the strike through indicated indecision by the jury. (App. p. 769).

The Court of Appeals properly held that the PCR court erred in concluding that Counsel's performance was deficient because there was no evidence of probative value to support its finding that Counsel was deficient for failing to address the jury verdict form. In determining whether Counsel was deficient, the courts must measure attorney performance by its "reasonableness under professional norms." Cherry, 300 S.C. at 117, 386 S.E.2d at 625, (citing Strickland). Here, the trial court polled the jury at Counsel's request, the trial court questioned

the jury foreman regarding the alteration, and polled the jury again to confirm the verdict was correct. Petitioner produced no evidence at the PCR hearing to show that the verdict was compromised in any way. Therefore, there was no evidence of probative value in the record to support the PCR court's finding that counsel was deficient in this regard. Accordingly, the Court of Appeals correctly held that Petitioner produced no evidence at the PCR hearing to show that Counsel was deficient in deciding not to pursue the argument further.

### CONCLUSION

For the reasons stated above, Respondent requests that this Court deny the Petition for Writ of Certiorari and affirm the Court of Appeals. Should this Court grant Certiorari, the Respondent requests permission under the rules to fully brief the issues discussed above.